RECEIVED

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEA40-13-2015

DISTRICT III

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 15 AP 584

BRIAN R. CORVINO,

Defendant- Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal From The Circuit Court For Oneida County Trial Court Case No. 14-CF-50 The Honorable Michael H. Bloom, Presiding

> Timothy B. Melms State Bar No. 1021201 HOGAN & MELMS, LLP 3622 HWY 47N P.O. Box 1008 Rhinelander, WI 54501-1008 715-365-1008 Attorney for Defendant- Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Statement of Facts

A complaint was filed in this matter citing a basis for a charge of felony OWI 4th on March 24, 2014. (App. 1). However, after the waiver of the preliminary hearing, at the arraignment on July 21, 2014, the State filed an Information charging the defendant with misdemeanor OWI 4th. (App. 2). The defendant entered a plea of not guilty to the misdemeanor charge contained within the Information and the Court accepted that plea. At the pretrial conference on March 10, 2015, the Circuit Court was presented with a joint plea agreement which would convict the defendant of misdemeanor OWI 4th. The Court refused to accept the joint plea agreement and ordered that the State file an Information charging the defendant with felony OWI 4th.

The Circuit Court held that "in the absence of the court making the necessary findings under sec. 967.055(2), Stats., the State may not file an information charging a misdemeanor violation for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated after the Court has made a finding of probable cause that a felony offense of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated was committed by the defendant." The Court further held that "such filing constitutes an 'amendment' of an operating a motor vehicle while

intoxicated charge under sec. 967.055(2)." The Court finally held that "the State's failure to file an information charging the offense for which probable cause was found, in the context of a prosecution covered under sec. 967.055, Stats., in absence of the Court making the necessary findings under sec. 967.055(2), Stats., constitutes an abuse of discretion insofar as such failure is contrary to the legislative mandate set forth therein." The Court then ordered the State to "file an information charging the defendant with operating motor vehicle while intoxicated as a fourth offense within five years, contrary to secs. 346.63(1)(a) and 346.65(2)(am)4m., Stats., a Class H felony." (App. 3; App. 4).

II. Statement of the Issues Presented for Review <u>Whether the Circuit Court's refusal to accept an</u> <u>Information which charges the defendant with a misdemeanor</u> <u>OWI 4th is an infringement by the Court on the State's</u> prosecutorial discretion?

The Circuit Court answered "No."

The Appellant believes that the Circuit Court erred and infringed on the State's prosecutorial discretion when it mandated that the State re-file an Information which charged the defendant with a felony OWI 4th.

2. <u>Does Wis. Stat. § 967.055(2) require the Circuit Court</u> to approve as an 'amendment' the submission of an <u>Information which charges the defendant with a misdemeanor</u> <u>OWI 4th when the Court had found probable cause to charge</u> <u>defendant with felony OWI 4th upon the waiver of the</u> preliminary hearing?

The Circuit Court answered "Yes."

The Appellant believes that the Circuit Court incorrectly determined that Wis. Stat. § 967.055 requires court approval of an Information which charges the defendant with a misdemeanor OWI 4^{th} .

3. <u>Can the Court, after accepting defendant's plea of not</u> <u>guilty to the misdemeanor charge contained within the</u> <u>Information, at a later date, reject such charge as not</u> <u>being consistent with the mandates of Wis. Stat. § 967.055?</u>

The Circuit Court answered "Yes."

The Appellant believes that the Circuit Court erred in rejecting the plea agreement on the misdemeanor charge contained in the Information when the Court had previously accepted a not guilty plea to that same misdemeanor charge at the time of arraignment.

4. When the Court considers the public's interest in deterring operating while intoxicated under Wis. Stat. §

967.055, is such consideration limited to the strength of the prosecution's case?

The Circuit Court answered "Yes."

The Appellant believes that the Circuit Court erred in placing such a limited scope on its consideration of the public's interest and argues that consideration of the public's interest should be so broad as to consider the implications to the defendant, his family, his community, and any other circumstances which would affect the public either directly or indirectly.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court erred and infringed on the State's prosecutorial discretion when it refused to accept the Information which charged the defendant with a misdemeanor OWI 4th.

A. Standard of Review

A circuit court's rejection of a plea agreement is reviewed to determine whether the Court appropriately exercised its discretion. <u>State v. Conger</u>, 325 Wis. 2d at 677. The court of appeals "will sustain a court's exercise of discretion if the court: (1) examined the relevant facts; (2) applied a proper standard of law; and (3) using a demonstrably rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge would reach." <u>Id.</u>

B. Analysis

It is the position of the Appellant that the Trial Court abused its discretion when it refused to accept the plea agreement offered in this case which involved a plea of guilty or no contest to the Information previously filed and accepted by the Trial Court.

Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63 and 346.65(4m) provide that the defendant could be charged with and found guilty of a Class H felony due to him allegedly having been convicted of three prior OWI's and having committed an offense that resulted in a suspension, revocation or other conviction counted under Sect. 343.307(1) within 5 years prior to the date of the current alleged offense (the alleged fourth offense OWI in this case). The Court has cited Wis. Stat. § 967.055 as <u>requiring</u> the prosecution of this matter as a felony OWI 4th and eliminating the prosecutor's discretion to initially charge the matter, by Information, as a misdemeanor OWI 4th once probable cause has been found at the time of the preliminary hearing.

Wis. Stat. § 967.055(2) states that "if the prosecutor seeks to dismiss or amend a charge under 346.63 . . . where the offense involved the use of a vehicle or an improper refusal . . . the prosecutor shall apply to the Court. The application shall state the reasons for the proposed

amendment or dismissal. The Court may approve the application only if the Court finds that the proposed amendment or dismissal is consistent with the public's interest in deterring the operation of motor vehicles by persons who are under the influence of an intoxicant, a controlled substance . . ." It is the position of the Appellant that the Court's interpretation of § 967.055 interferes with prosecutorial discretion when used to stop the prosecutor from filing the charges it so chooses.

Wis. Stat. Sect. 971.29 states "Amending the charge. (1) A complaint or information may be amended at any time prior to arraignment without leave of the Court." This statute has been clarified and supported throughout Wisconsin case law history. In <u>State v. Conger</u>, 325 Wis.2d 664, 797 N.W.2d 341 (Wis. 2010), the Court discussed a prosecutor's discretion. "The legislature has defined the circumstances under which a prosecutor may amend charges. 'A complaint or information may be amended at any time prior to arraignment without leave of the Court.' Wis. Stat Sect. 971.29(1). It seems evident that the language 'prior to arraignment' is most sensibly read to set the outer limit of when the prosecutor may make such an amendment in his or her sole discretion. Otherwise, the language is surplusage." Id. at 678.

In <u>State v. Conger</u>, the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed at length when the Court can begin to exercise its discretion with regard to pending criminal charges. In its reasoning, the Court cites <u>State v. Kenyon</u>, 85 Wis.2d 36, 45, 270 N.W.2d 160 (Wis. 1978) and its predecessor:

Under <u>Kenyon</u> and its predecessor, <u>Guinther</u> . . . we reconciled the apparent tension between powers within the prosecutors realm and those within the Court's realm with reference to the point in time that marks the boundary between the two in any given case: the point at which the Court's jurisdiction is invoked.

As we said in <u>Kenyon</u>, the discretion resting with the District Attorney in determining whether to commence a prosecution is almost limitless . . . ; however, when the jurisdiction of the Court is invoked by the commencement of a criminal proceeding, the Court can exercise discretion as described in <u>Guinther</u>. . . This Court in <u>Kenyon</u> also described another check on the power of the district attorney, legislature:

[T]he position of district attorney, though constitutional, was not one of inherent powers, but was answerable to specific directions of the legislature. It appears settled, therefore, in Wisconsin at least, that the prosecutor is subject to the enactments of the legislature...

Thus both the fact that the Court's jurisdiction is 'invoked by the commencement' of a case and that the legislature has granted prosecutors sole discretion to amend a charge only prior to arraignment mean that the prosecutor's unchecked discretion stops at the point of arraignment.

Id. at 683 (citations omitted).

Our approach vests authority in the circuit court to determine what pleas are in the public interest without permitting the court to intrude

on the authority of the prosecutor to decide what charges to file and whether to file charges in the first instance. As we stated in Kenyon,

'[I]n all cases some findings should be made with respect to the impact of the ruling on the public interest in proper enforcement of its laws and the public interest in allowing the prosecutors sufficient freedom to exercise legitimate discretion, to employ to the best effect his experience and training, and to make the subjective judgment implicit in the broad grant of authority under Sect. 59.47 Stats.'

Id. at 686.

Due to the recent enactment of § 346.65(2)(4m) and the fact that in this type of circumstance, both the State and Defendant were aligned in their desire to have the matter charged as a misdemeanor, there are no Court of Appeals cases involving the facts as we have them. However, there is similar case law regarding whether a prosecutor has the right to file an Information which does not charge a defendant as a repeater even when repeater status may apply. Specifically, Wis. Stat. § 973.132(1) states, "whenever a person charged with a crime will be a repeater or a persistent repeater under s. 939.62 if convicted, any applicable prior convictions <u>may be alleged</u> in the complaint, indictment or information or amendments so alleging at any time before or at arraignment and before acceptance of any plea." (Emphasis added).

That statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.132(1), has been interpreted to allow the prosecutor discretion in filing the Information. "While the first sentence clearly establishes a time frame when a prosecutor 'may' in his or her discretion put a repeater allegation in a charging document, we would agree with the state that this sentence standing alone does not expressly address or prohibit repeater amendments after arraignment and plea acceptance." <u>State v. Martin</u>, 162 Wis.2d 883, 470 N.W.2d 900, 904 (Wis.1991).

It is the position of the Appellant that charging an OWI 4th as a felony is very similar to charging as a repeater. There is no basis in law which would demonstrate that charging as a repeater is discretionary while an OWI 4th felony charge is mandatory. Further, there is no statutory and/or case law authority which support that a prosecutor's discretion at the time of filing the Information has somehow been removed by the legislature under § 967.055 when the Circuit Court has found probable cause for charging the felony OWI 4th at the time of preliminary hearing.

II. The Trial Court erred when it held that Wis. Stat. § 967.055(2) required the Circuit Court to approve as an `amendment' the submission of an Information which charges the defendant with a misdemeanor OWI 4^{th} when the Court had found probable cause to charge defendant with felony OWI 4^{th} upon the waiver of the preliminary hearing.

Wis. Stat. § 967.055(2) states that "if the prosecutor seeks to dismiss or amend a charge under 346.63 . . . where the offense involved the use of a vehicle or an improper refusal . . . the prosecutor shall apply to the Court. The application shall state the reasons for the proposed amendment or dismissal. The Court may approve the application only if the Court finds that the proposed amendment or dismissal is consistent with the public's interest in deterring the operation of motor vehicles by persons who are under the influence of an intoxicant, a controlled substance . . . " It is the position of the Appellant that the Court's interpretation of § 967.055 creates a requirement of court review of an initial filing rather than simply approval of a motion to amend or dismiss.

As stated above, there is no statutory and/or case law authority which support that a prosecutor's discretion at the time of filing the Information has somehow been removed by the legislature under § 967.055 when the Circuit Court

has found probable cause for charging the felony OWI 4^{th} at the time of preliminary hearing.

As in any case initially labeled as a felony case in a Complaint, the matter was scheduled for preliminary hearing and then arraignment. Due to a waiver of the preliminary hearing, the court made the probable cause finding and then scheduled an arraignment. The prosecutor introduced the misdemeanor Information as the charging document in this case at the time of arraignment. At no time did the prosecutor make any attempt to dismiss or amend any charge. Instead, the defendant entered the plea of not guilty to the filed Information and the Court accepted that plea.

Because this matter involves an initial charge, it is the position of the Appellant that Wis. Stat. § 967.055(2) was not applicable. There is no amendment or dismissal sought in this case. Instead, Appellant is merely asking the Trial Court to allow a conviction on the crime charged in the Information.

A finding of probable cause by the Trial Court does not mandate the filing of a felony charge. Further, the finding of probable cause does not trigger a review of Wis. Stat. § 967.055 for any charge filed thereafter. The clear language of Wis. Stat. § 967.055 provides that the court

approval only becomes necessary when a prosecutor requests an amendment or dismissal of an existing charge.

The Trial Court erred when it held that Wis. Stat. § 967.055(2) applied due to it having made a probable cause finding that a felony had been committed at the time of the preliminary hearing. At that time, there was no charge filed. When the charge was filed in the form of an Information, which is the initial charging document,§ 967.055 was not triggered. Therefore, no court approval was necessary.

III. The Trial Court erred when, after accepting defendant's plea of not guilty to the misdemeanor charge contained within the Information, at a later date, it rejected such charge as not being consistent with the mandates of Wis. Stat. § 967.055.

The Circuit Court in this case accepted the filing of the misdemeanor Information on July 21, 2014. The Court also accepted the defendant's plea of not guilty on that misdemeanor charge. The case proceeded forward with only the misdemeanor pending. At the time of the pretrial conference, on March 10, 2015, the Trial Court rejected the plea agreement which anticipated a plea of guilty on the one pending charge, misdemeanor OWI 4th. The Appellant argues that at no point until after arraignment does the Court have any ability to exercise discretion as to criminal charges. The Court certainly cannot at the time

of plea and sentencing look back and reject the Information upon which it accepted a plea of not guilty approximately 8 months before. This is an error of the Circuit Court.

IV. The Trial Court erred when it limited its consideration of the public's interest in deterring operating while intoxicated under Wis. Stat. § 967.055 to the strength of the prosecution's case.

Finally, while the Appellant believes that the prosecutor has absolute discretion to file the misdemeanor Information without Court approval, in the event the Court of Appeals determines that a Wis. Stat. § 967.055 analysis is required, the Appellant argue that such analysis is not limited to the strength of the prosecutor's case. Wis. Stat. § 967.055 mandates the Circuit Court's consideration of the public's interest in deterring the operation of a vehicle while intoxicated. While the strength of the prosecutor's case is definitely a fair consideration, other circumstances also affect the public's interest such as the effect on the defendant's family and employer and the community's interest in the defendant remaining sober and a productive member of society.

Plea bargaining is an important part of the criminal justice system. When considering a plea bargain, the court is charged with considering the public's interest just as it is within Wis. Stat. 967.055. "The potential to

conserve valuable prosecutorial resources and for defendants to admit their crimes and receive more favorable terms at sentencing means that a plea agreement can benefit both parties." Missouri v. Frye, 132 S. Ct. 1399, 1407 (2012). "Because ours 'is for the most part a system of pleas, not a system of trials,' it is insufficient simply to point to the guarantee of a fair trial as a backstop that inoculates any errors in the pretrial process. 'To a large extent ... horse trading [between prosecutor and defense counsel] determines who goes to jail and for how long. That is what plea bargaining is. It is not some adjunct to the criminal justice system; it is the criminal justice system." Id. (citing Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1388 (2012) and Scott & Struntz, Plea Bargaining as a Contract, 101 Yale L.J. 1909, 1912 (1922)). Because the value of plea bargaining is so significant, it is imperative that the Trial Court does not so narrowly construe the scope of the public interest when considering plea agreements involving Wis. Stat. § 967.055 so as to have a chilling effect on the ability to negotiate plea agreements.

In <u>State v. Conger</u>, the court discussed extensively the public interest standard which needed to be considered by the court at the time of the plea hearing. "It is true,

as this court noted in Kenyon, that the public interest standard is 'admittedly broad,' and that Guinther sheds little light on the various factors and considerations which may legitimately be included under this rubric.' It is also true that Kenyon did not ameliorate that problem. Rather, this court simply noted that `[i]t would be impossible to make an exhaustive list of just what to take into account in this regard. . . We agree that it would be impossible to set forth an exhaustive list that would apply to the variety of facts and charges that face circuit courts every day . . . " Conger, at 687-88 (quoting Kenyon, at 46-7). The Court's reasoning in Conger involves an extensive discussion of the case law which sets forth different factors which have been utilized in weighing the public interest, but succinctly states where the Trial Court could begin in this analysis:

Given those contours, a sensible -and importantstarting point for a circuit court evaluating a plea is to consider the reasons stated by the prosecutor and defense counsel for recommending the plea agreement. Giving weight to the prosecutor's recommendation and supporting reasoning reflects the court's interest in honoring the public interest in providing a prosecutor freedom to exercise the discretion that his or her position authorizes. Likewise, the court's evaluation of the defense attorney's reasoning and recommendations reflects a balancing consideration of the public interest in a fair prosecution.

Id. at 688.

In this case, the Trial Court clearly too narrowly construed the appropriate inquiry as to what is in the public interest in deterring operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. The facts and circumstances in this case and how it affects the public interest are so much broader than whether the prosecution had a strong case against the defendant. Appropriate analysis of the public interest would certainly require considering whether the public interest could still be as served with a misdemeanor conviction as with a felony conviction for OWI 4th. Would a felony conviction better serve the public? A felony conviction could cause the defendant the loss of his job. The loss of his job would put his family's financial future at risk. With the loss of his job, the defendant would no longer have employer health insurance coverage. The loss of health insurance would potentially make alcohol treatment cost prohibitive. Certainly that would not serve the public's interest. The Circuit Court erred when it limited its consideration to the strength or weakness of the prosecutor's case and ignored the potential

harm to the public's interest a felony conviction would cause.

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