## **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-19-2016

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2015AP584-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN R. CORVINO,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A NON-FINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR ONEIDA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL H. BLOOM, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-0284 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) sandersmc@doj.state.wi.us

##

#### A. Introduction.

The facts of this case are not in dispute. The criminal complaint alleged that Corvino operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, and that he had three prior offenses, one within five years of his current offense (1:1-2). The complaint therefore alleged that if found guilty of OWI, Corvino would be convicted and sentenced under Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)4m, for a felony (1:1).

The circuit court found probable cause that Corvino committed a felony, and bound him over for trial. The prosecutor then filed an information charging Corvino with OWI, but asserting that if he were found guilty of OWI,

Corvino would be convicted and sentenced under Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)4, for a misdemeanor (4).

The prosecutor did not apply for permission to amend the charge from a felony to a misdemeanor, as required by Wis. Stat. § 967.055, or even mention that the State sought to proceed with a misdemeanor charge rather than a felony charge. The court accepted the information without recognizing that the prosecutor had amended the charge from the felony upon which the court bound Corvino over for trial.

The court later recognized that the prosecutor had amended the charge without seeking leave of the court, as required by Wis. Stat. § 967.055. The court refused to accept Corvino's plea to OWI as a misdemeanor, and ordered the prosecutor to file an information charging a felony.

On appeal, Corvino argues that the prosecutor did not amend the charge, even though the criminal complaint alleged a felony, because the information alleged a misdemeanor. He also argues that prosecutors have unfettered discretion to amend a charge at any time before arraignment under Wis. Stat. § 971.29, and that Wis. Stat. § 967.055 does not apply to limit that discretion.

As the State will explain, the circuit court correctly concluded that the prosecutor initially charged Corvino with OWI as a felony, and then amended the charge to a misdemeanor. As the court recognized, § 967.055 explicitly provides that it applies, "Notwithstanding s. 971.29," and it prohibits a prosecutor from amending an OWI charge without permission of the court. In this case, the court was unaware that the prosecutor amended the charge, and did not grant permission for the amendment.

B. Wisconsin Stat. § 967.055 explicitly prohibits prosecutors from amending OWI charges without court approval.

Under Wis. Stat. § 967.055, "Prosecution of offenses; operation of a motor vehicle or motorboat; alcohol, intoxicant or drug," a prosecutor may not amend an OWI charge without court approval, and the court is not authorized to grant that approval unless it is in the public's interest in deterring drunk driving. In the statute, the legislature has explicitly set forth the purpose of Wisconsin's drunk driving laws, stating, "The legislature intends to encourage the vigorous prosecution of offenses concerning the operation of motor vehicles by persons under the influence of an intoxicant." Wis. Stat. § 967.055(1)(a). The statute provides that. "Notwithstanding s. 971.29, if the prosecutor seeks to dismiss or amend a charge under s. 346.63(1) . . . the prosecutor shall apply to the court," and that "[t]he application shall state the reasons for the proposed amendment or dismissal." The statute further provides that "[t]he court may approve the application only if the court finds that the proposed amendment or dismissal is consistent with the public's interest in deterring the operation of motor vehicles by persons who are under the influence of an intoxicant." Wis. Stat. § 967.055(2)(a).2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Wisconsin Stat. § 967.055 provides as follows:

<sup>(1)</sup> Intent.

<sup>(</sup>a) The legislature intends to encourage the vigorous prosecution of offenses concerning the operation of motor vehicles by persons under the influence of an intoxicant, a controlled substance, a controlled substance analog or any combination of an intoxicant, controlled substance and controlled substance analog, under the influence of any other drug to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving, or under the combined influence of an intoxicant and any other drug to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving or having a prohibited alcohol concentration, as defined in s. 340.01 (46m), offenses concerning the operation of

Corvino argues that § 967.055 does not apply in this case even though the prosecutor initially filed a criminal complaint charging a felony, because the charging document at the time of the arraignment was the information, which

motor vehicles by persons with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood, and offenses concerning the operation of commercial motor vehicles by persons with an alcohol concentration of 0.04 or more.

. . .

#### (2) Dismissing or amending charge.

(a) Notwithstanding s. 971.29, if the prosecutor seeks to dismiss or amend a charge under s. 346.63 (1) or (5) or a local ordinance in conformity therewith, or s. 346.63 (2) or (6) or 940.25, or s. 940.09 where the offense involved the use of a vehicle or an improper refusal under s. 343.305, the prosecutor shall apply to the court. The application shall state the reasons for the proposed amendment or dismissal. The court may approve the application only if the court finds that the proposed amendment or dismissal is consistent with the public's interest in deterring the operation of motor vehicles by persons who are under the influence of an intoxicant, a controlled substance, a controlled substance analog or any combination of an intoxicant, controlled substance and controlled substance analog, under the influence of any other drug to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving, or under the combined influence of an intoxicant and any other drug to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving, in deterring the operation of motor vehicles by persons with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood, or in deterring the operation of commercial motor vehicles by persons with an alcohol concentration of 0.04 or more. The court may not approve an application to amend the vehicle classification from a commercial motor vehicle to a noncommercial motor vehicle unless there is evidence in the record that the motor vehicle being operated by the defendant at the time of his or her arrest was not a commercial motor vehicle.

charged a misdemeanor (Corvino's Br. at 11). Therefore, he argues, the prosecutor did not amend the charge (Corvino's Br. at 11).

Corvino's argument is seemingly based on the premise that the criminal complaint the prosecutor filed, charging Corvino with OWI and alleging three prior offenses including one within five years—a felony—was not a charging document. He asserts that the initial charging document was the information the prosecutor filed charging a misdemeanor even after the circuit court found probable cause that he committed a felony and bound him over for trial (Corvino's Br. at 11).

The State maintains that the initial charging document in this case was the criminal complaint. Wisconsin Stat. § 967.05 explains how a prosecution is commenced:

- (1) A prosecution may be commenced by the filing of:
- (a) A complaint;
- (b) In the case of a corporation or limited liability company, an information;
- (c) An indictment.

Wis. Stat. § 967.05(1).

The statute adds that, "[t]he trial of a misdemeanor action shall be upon a complaint," and that "[t]he trial of a felony action shall be upon an information." Wis. Stat. § 967.05(2) and (3).

"The complaint is a written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged." Wis. Stat. § 968.01(2). "[A] complaint charging a person with an offense shall be issued only by a district attorney of the county where the crime is alleged to have been committed." Wis. Stat. § 968.02(1).

As § 967.05(1) states, a prosecution is commenced by the filing of a complaint. For misdemeanor prosecutions in which an information is not filed, the criminal complaint is not only the initial charging document, it is the only charging document. And § 971.29 is titled, "Amending the charge." It begins with the words, "A complaint or information may be amended." Wis. Stat. § 971.29(1). A complaint is therefore a charge that can be amended.

In this case, the prosecutor filed a complaint charging Corvino with OWI. As this court has recognized, under Wis. Stat. § 967.055, "once prosecution has been commenced, the charge cannot be dismissed sua sponte by the district attorney because it becomes subject to court control." *State v. Dums*, 149 Wis. 2d 314, 321-22, 440 N.W.2d 814 (Ct. App. 1989) (citation omitted). Under § 967.055, the same applies to amendment of an OWI charge. Once the prosecutor files a complaint charging OWI, amendment of the charge is subject to court control.

The prosecutor in this case initially charged Corvino with OWI in a complaint alleging three prior offenses, one within five years of his current offense. The complaint alleged that if found guilty of OWI, Corvino would be convicted of and sentenced for a felony (1). Based on the complaint, including the three prior offenses, the court found probable cause that Corvino committed a felony and bound him over for trial. The prosecutor then filed an information charging Corvino with OWI and alleging three prior offenses, but charging him with a misdemeanor. (4)

In filing an information charging a misdemeanor rather than a felony, the prosecutor amended the charge from the felony that was originally charged. Under § 967.055, before amending the charge the prosecutor was required to file an application with the court and state the reasons for the amendment. The prosecutor did not do so. When it accepted the information, the court obviously did not realize that the prosecutor had amended the charge from a felony to a misdemeanor, and it did not make the findings

required for an amended charge. As the court recognized when it refused to accept Corvino's plea to OWI as a misdemeanor, the charge was not properly amended.

C. Wisconsin Stat. § 967.055 limits the prosecutor's ability to amend a charge under Wis. Stat. § 971.29 before arraignment.

The circuit court concluded that under Wis. Stat. § 967.055, the prosecutor is prohibited from amending an OWI charge without court approval (21:2-3). Corvino argues that the circuit court's conclusion is incorrect and improperly interferes with a prosecutor's discretion in amending a charge before arraignment (Corvino's Br. at 6). Corvino relies on Wis. Stat. § 971.29(1), which provides that "[a] complaint or information may be amended at any time prior to arraignment without leave of the court." He argues that until arraignment, the prosecutor has unfettered discretion to amend a charge (Corvino's Br. at 6-7).

Corvino made the same argument in the circuit court. At the hearing in which the court refused to accept Corvino's guilty plea to an amended charge, Corvino's defense counsel pointed out that § 971.29 authorizes a prosecutor to amend the complaint or information "at any time prior to arraignment without leave of the Court" (21:9). Defense counsel added, "And that statute makes no reference to 967.055" (21:9).

The circuit court rejected Corvino's argument, noting that "section 971.29 does not make reference to section 967.055, but 967.055(2)(a) and (2)(b) both start with the language, "Notwithstanding section 971.29" (21:10).

On appeal, Corvino argues that the circuit court misinterpreted § 967.055 because it did not take into account § 971.29 (Corvino's Br. at 6). He seems to assert that so long as a prosecutor amends an OWI charge before filing an information, § 967.055 does not apply.

Corvino is wrong for two reasons. First, § 967.055 explicitly applies, in spite of § 971.29, to curtail a prosecutor's discretion to amend or dismiss an OWI charge before arraignment. Second, allowing a prosecutor to circumvent § 967.055 in this fashion would be contrary to the legislative intent behind § 967.055 and drunk driving laws generally—that prosecutors vigorously prosecute drunk driving offenses.

In his brief, Corvino quotes § 967.055 twice, asserting that the statute states that:

if the prosecutor seeks to dismiss or amend a charge under s. 346.63... where the offense involved the use of a vehicle or an improper refusal... the prosecutor shall apply to the Court. The application shall state the reasons for the proposed amendment or dismissal. The Court may approve the application only if the court finds that the proposed amendment or dismissal is consistent with the public's interest in deterring the operation of motor vehicle by person who are under the influence of an intoxicant, a controlled substance...

### (Corvino's Br. at 5-6, 10.)

When he quotes the statute, and asserts that it does not apply because of § 971.29, Corvino fails to acknowledge that the first words of § 967.055(2)(a) are, "Notwithstanding s. 971.29."

As the supreme court has concluded, after arraignment a prosecutor can amend a charge only with leave of the court. State v. Conger, 2010 WI 56, ¶ 16, 325 Wis. 2d 664, 797 N.W.2d 341; Wis. Stat. § 971.29(1). A prosecutor generally has unfettered discretion to amend a charge before arraignment. Id. However, the power of a prosecutor "is subject to the enactments of the legislature." Id. ¶ 22 (quoting  $State\ v$ . Kenyon, 85 Wis. 2d 36, 42, 270 N.W.2d 160 (1978)).

When it enacted § 967.055, the legislature obviously understood that § 971.29 prohibits prosecutors from

dismissing or amending charges after arraignment, but grants prosecutors discretion to dismiss or amend charges before arraignment.

Wisconsin Stat. § 967.055 makes clear that the general rule in § 971.29 does not apply in OWI prosecutions. It provides that when a prosecutor seeks to dismiss or amend an OWI charge, the prosecutor must apply to the court for permission. Section 967.055 does not change the rule for dismissals or amendments after arraignment. The rule is the same after arraignment for OWI charges under § 967.055 as it is for other charges under § 971.29. After arraignment the prosecutor can dismiss or amend only with permission of the court.

The point of § 967.055(2), and the reason the legislature has stated that it applies, "Nothwithstanding s. 971.29," is that the rule is different in OWI cases before Section arraignment. 967.055(2) provides that notwithstanding that a prosecutor generally has discretion to amend or dismiss a charge before arraignment, in OWI cases the prosecutor does not have that discretion. prosecutor may amend or dismiss a charge only with leave of the court. The statute has effect only in cases like this one, where a prosecutor wants to dismiss or amend a charge after the original charge is filed in a criminal complaint, but before arraignment.

The supreme court has recognized that "[s]ec. 971.29 is a general statute conferring upon prosecutors the right, subject to some conditions, to amend criminal complaints or informations." *State v. Brooks*, 113 Wis. 2d 347, 358, 335 N.W.2d 354 (1983). The court added that "the provisions of sec. 967.055(2) are to apply '[n]otwithstanding s. 971.29." *Id.* The court concluded that Wis. Stat. § 967.055 "shows a legislative intent to curtail a prosecutor's right to seek a dismissal." *Id.* at 358-59. The same applies to the amendment of a charge.

As the circuit court recognized, the general rule set forth in § 971.29, that "[a] complaint or information may be amended at any time prior to arraignment without leave of the court," does not apply in OWI prosecutions. Instead, § 967.055 applies. Under § 967.055, a prosecutor may not amend a charge without leave of the court, before or after arraignment.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DID NOT ALLOW THE PROSECUTOR TO AMEND THE FELONY OWI CHARGE AGAINST CORVINO TO A MISDEMEANOR.

#### A. Introduction.

At the plea hearing, the court noted that Wis. Stat. § 967.055 requires a prosecutor seeking to amend an OWI charge to apply to the court (21:4). The court asked the parties why it would be consistent with the public's interest in deterring OWI offenses to allow amendment of the OWI charge against Corvino from a felony to a misdemeanor (21:4-5).

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